



Council of the
European Union

Brussels, 13 December 2018
(OR. en)

**Interinstitutional File:
2018/0088(COD)**

15559/18
ADD 1

LIMITE

**AGRILEG 228
DENLEG 111
MI 996
SAN 473
CONSOM 362
RECH 540
CODEC 2344**

'A' ITEM NOTE

From: General Secretariat of the Council
To: Council

No. prev. doc.: 15148/18 + ADD 1
No. Cion doc.: COM(2018) 179 final - 8518/18

Subject: Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL on the transparency and sustainability of the EU risk assessment in the food chain amending Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 [on general food law], Directive 2001/18/EC [on the deliberate release into the environment of GMOs], Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 [on GM food and feed], Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 [on feed additives], Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 [on smoke flavourings], Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 [on food contact materials], Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 [on the common authorisation procedure for food additives, food enzymes and food flavourings], Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 [on plant protection products] and Regulation (EU) No 2015/2283 [on novel foods]
- General approach

Proposal for a

REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL

on the transparency and sustainability of the EU risk assessment in the food chain amending Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 [on general food law], Directive 2001/18/EC [on the deliberate release into the environment of GMOs], Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 [on GM food and feed], Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 [on feed additives], Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 [on smoke flavourings], Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 [on food contact materials], Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 [on the common authorisation procedure for food additives, food enzymes and food flavourings], Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 [on plant protection products] and Regulation (EU) No 2015/2283 [on novel foods]

(Text with EEA relevance)

THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND THE COUNCIL OF THE EUROPEAN UNION,

Having regard to the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, and in particular Articles 43(2), 114, and 168(4)(b) thereof,

Having regard to the proposal from the European Commission,

After transmission of the draft legislative act to the national parliaments,

Having regard to the opinion of the European Economic and Social Committee¹,

Having regard to the opinion of the Committee of the Regions²,

Acting in accordance with the ordinary legislative procedure,

Whereas:

¹ OJ C , , p. .

² OJ C , , p. .

- (1) Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council³ lays down the general principles and requirements of food law, so as to form a common basis for measures governing food law both at Union and Member State level. It provides, amongst others, that food law must be based on risk analysis, except where this is not appropriate to the circumstances or the nature of the measure.
- (2) Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 defines “risk analysis” as a process consisting of three interconnected components: risk assessment, risk management and risk communication. For the purposes of risk assessment at Union level, it establishes the European Food Safety Authority (“the Authority”), as the responsible Union risk assessment body in matters relating to food and feed safety. ~~Risk communication is an essential part of the risk analysis process.~~
- (3) ***Risk communication is an essential part of the risk analysis process.*** The evaluation of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002⁴, (“Fitness Check of the General Food Law”), found that risk communication is overall, not considered to be effective enough, which has an impact on consumers’ confidence on the outcome of the risk analysis process.
- (4) It is therefore necessary to ensure a comprehensive and continuous risk communication process throughout risk analysis, involving Union and national risk assessors and risk managers. That process should be combined with an open dialogue between all interested parties to ensure the coherence and consistency within the risk analysis process.
- (5) Particular emphasis should be placed on explaining in a coherent, appropriate and timely manner not only risk assessment findings themselves but also how these are utilized to help inform risk management decisions along with other legitimate factors, where relevant.
- (6) To this effect, it is necessary to establish general objectives and principles of risk communication, taking into account the respective roles of risk assessors and managers.

³ Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety; (OJ L 31, 1.2.2002, p. 1).

⁴ Commission Staff Working Document, “The REFIT evaluation of the General Food Law (Regulation (EC) No 178/2002)”, SWD(2018)38 final, dated 15.1.2018.

- (7) **Guidelines on a general plan for risk communication** ~~Based on these general objectives and principles;~~ **should be drawn up by the Commission, in close cooperation with the Authority and the Member States; a general plan on risk communication should be established in close cooperation with the Authority and the Member States, and following relevant public consultations. **The plan should promote an integrated risk communication framework for all risk assessors and risk managers at national and Union level on all matters relating to the food chain. The plan should be general, allow for the necessary flexibility and not deal with situations specifically covered by the general plan for crisis management.****
- (8) The general plan should **aim at identifying** the key factors to be taken into account when **considering the type and level of** risk communications' activities **needed** ~~are considered~~, such as the different levels of risk, the nature of the risk and its potential public health impact, who and what are directly or indirectly affected by the risk, the levels of risk exposure **to a hazard, the level of urgency and** the ability to control risk and other factors that influence risk perception including the level of urgency as well as the applicable legislative framework and relevant market context.
- (8a) The general plan should also **aim at identifying** the tools and channels to be used and should establish appropriate mechanisms **of coordination and cooperation between the risk assessors and risk managers at national and Union level involved in the risk analysis process, in particular where several Union agencies provide scientific outputs on the same or on related subject matters**, to ensure coherent risk communication **and an open dialogue amongst all interested parties.**
- (9) Transparency of the risk assessment process contributes to the Authority acquiring greater legitimacy in the eyes of the consumers and general public in pursuing its mission, increases their confidence in its work and ensures that the Authority is more accountable to the Union citizens in a democratic system. It is therefore essential to maintain the confidence of the general public and other interested parties in the risk analysis process underpinning Union food law and in particular in the risk assessment, including the organisation and independence of the Authority and transparency.
- (10) It is appropriate to align the composition of the Management Board of the Authority to the Common Approach on decentralised agencies, in accordance with the Joint Statement of the European Parliament, the Council of the European Union and the European Commission on decentralised agencies of 2012⁵, **thus increasing the role of Member States as well as the effort and engagement of all parties involved in the management of the Authority.**

⁵ https://europa.eu/european-union/sites/europaeu/files/docs/body/joint_statement_and_common_approach_2012_en.pdf.

- (11) Experience shows that the role of the Management Board of the Authority is focussed on administrative and financial aspects and does not impact on the independence of the scientific work performed by the Authority. It is thus appropriate to include representatives of all Member States in the Management Board of the Authority while providing that those representatives should have experience *and expertise in particular on risk assessment not only in the fields of food chain legislation and policy, including risk assessment, but also in those of general, financial and legal matters and ensuring that they act independently in the public interest.*
- (12) The *members of the* Management Board should be selected in such a way as to secure the highest standards of competence and a broad range of relevant experience available amongst the representatives of the Member States, the European Parliament and the Commission.
- (13) The Fitness Check of the General Food Law identified certain shortcomings in the long-term capability of the Authority to maintain its high-level expertise. In particular, there has been a decrease in the number of candidates applying to be members of the Scientific Panels . The system has thus to be strengthened and Member States should take a more active role to ensure that a sufficient pool of experts is available to meet the needs of the Union risk assessment system in terms of high level of scientific expertise, independence and multidisciplinary expertise.
- (14) To preserve the independence of the risk assessment from risk management and from other interests at Union level, it is appropriate that the *selection by the Executive Director nomination and the appointment by the Management Board of the Authority* of the members of *the Scientific Committee and of the Scientific Panels* ~~by the Member States, their selection by the Executive Director of the Authority and their appointment by the Management Board of the Authority~~ are based on strict criteria ensuring the excellence and independence of the experts while ensuring the required multidisciplinary expertise for each Panel. It is also essential to this end that the Executive Director whose function is to defend *the Authority's* ~~EFSA's~~ interests and in particular the independence of its expertise has a role in the selection ~~and appointment~~ of those scientific experts. Further measures should also be put in place to ensure that scientific experts have the means to act independently.
- (15) It is essential to ensure the efficient operation of the Authority and to improve the sustainability of its expertise. It is therefore necessary to strengthen the support provided by the Authority and the Member States to the work of the Authority's Scientific Panels. In particular, the Authority should organise the preparatory work supporting the Panels' tasks, including by requesting the Authority's staff or national scientific organisations networking with the Authority to draft preparatory scientific opinions to be peer-reviewed and adopted by the Panels.

- (16) Authorisations procedures are based on the principle that it is for the applicant to prove that the subject matter of an ~~authorisation procedure~~ **application** complies with Union safety requirements given the scientific knowledge in its possession. This principle is based on the premise that public health is better protected when the burden of proof is on the applicant since it has to prove that a particular subject matter is safe prior to its placing on the market, instead of the public authorities having to prove that a subject matter is unsafe in order to be able to ban it from the market. ~~Moreover, public money should not be used to commission costly studies that will in the end help the industry to place a product on the market.~~ According to this principle and in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements, in support of applications ~~for an authorisation~~ under Union sectoral food law, applicants are required to submit relevant studies, including tests, to demonstrate the safety and in some cases the efficacy of a subject matter.
- (17) Provisions exist on the content of applications ~~for authorisations~~. It is essential that the application ~~for authorisation~~ submitted to the Authority for its risk assessment meets the applicable specifications to ensure the best quality scientific assessment by the Authority. Applicants and in particular small- and medium-sized enterprises do not always have a clear understanding of these specifications. It ~~should be~~ **is** thus appropriate that ~~the Authority,~~ **where the Authority may be requested to provide a scientific output, it should** provide advice to a potential applicant, upon request. **This advice should be** on the applicable rules and the required content of an application ~~for authorisation~~, before an application is formally submitted, while not entering into the design of the studies to be submitted that remain the applicant's responsibility. To ensure the transparency of this process, **a summary of the pre-submission** advice of the Authority should be made public **only once a corresponding application has been made public in accordance with the applicable rules on transparency.**
- (18) ~~¶~~ **Where the Authority may be requested to provide a scientific output, it** should have knowledge of the subject matter of all studies performed by an applicant with a view to **support an** future application ~~for an authorisation~~ under Union food law. To this end, it is necessary and appropriate that **when** business operators commissioning ~~or carry-out~~ the studies **with a view to submit an application** and laboratories carrying them out **they** notify **those** studies to the Authority ~~when commissioned~~. **The notification obligation should also apply to the laboratories and other testing facilities carrying-out the studies.** Information about the notified studies should be made public only once a corresponding application ~~for authorisation~~ has been made public in accordance with the applicable rules on transparency. **The Authority should lay down practical arrangements to implement the notification obligations, including procedures for requesting and making public the justifications for their non-compliance.**

- (19) In the case of applications to request the renewal of an authorisation, the authorised substance or product has already been on the market for several years. Therefore experience and knowledge exist on this substance or product. **Where the Authority may be requested to provide a scientific output, it is therefore appropriate that the studies planned for supporting requests for renewals should be notified by the applicant to the Authority and that following are submitted to a consultation of third parties on these planned studies, and that the Authority systematically provides advice to the applicants on the content of the intended renewal application, taking into account the received comments.**
- (20) There are certain public concerns about the Authority's assessment in the area of authorisations being primarily based on industry studies. The Authority already makes searches in scientific literature to be able to consider other data and studies existing on the subject matter submitted to its assessment. In order to provide an additional level of guarantee ensuring that the Authority can have access to all relevant scientific data and studies available on a subject matter of an **application for an authorisation or a renewal of an authorisation procedure**, it is appropriate to provide for a consultation of third parties in order to identify whether other relevant scientific data or studies are available. To increase the effectiveness of the consultation, the consultation should take place when the studies submitted by industry included in an application for authorisation are made public, under the **applicable transparency rules of this Regulation. Where there is a risk that the results of a public consultation cannot be given due consideration due to the applicable deadlines, it is appropriate to provide for a limited extension of these deadlines.**
- (21) Studies, including tests, submitted by business operators in support of applications for authorisations under Union sectoral food law usually comply with internationally recognised principles, which provide a uniform basis for their quality in particular in terms of reproducibility of results. However, issues of compliance with the applicable standards, **such as Directive 2004/10/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the inspection and verification of good laboratory practice⁶ or standards developed by the International Organization for Standardization**, may arise in some cases and this is why **international and national systems are in place to verify such compliance. It is therefore appropriate to that the Commission carries out fact finding missions to assess the application by laboratories and other testing facilities of the relevant standards for carrying out tests and studies submitted to the Authority as part of an application. This would allow to identify possible weaknesses in the systems, to aim at correcting these and to provide an additional level of guarantees to reassure the general public on the quality of studies and to lay down an enhanced auditing system whereby Member State controls on the implementation of those principles by the laboratories carrying out such studies and tests would be verified by the Commission. Based on the conclusions of these fact finding missions, the Commission could propose appropriate legislative measures aiming at improving the compliance with these standards.**

⁶ **Directive 2004/9/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 February 2004 on the inspection and verification of good laboratory practice (GLP) (OJ L 50, 20.2.2004, p. 28).**

- (22) Food safety is a sensitive matter of prime interest for all Union citizens. While maintaining the principle that the burden is on the industry to prove compliance with Union requirements, it is important to establish an additional verification tool to address specific cases of high societal importance where there is a controversy on safety issues, namely the commissioning of additional studies with the objective of verifying evidence used in the context of risk assessment. Considering that it would be financed by the Union budget and that the use of this exceptional verification tool should remain proportionate, the Commission, **taking into account the views expressed by Member States and the European Parliament**, should be responsible for triggering the commissioning of such verification studies. Account should be taken of the fact that in some specific cases the studies commissioned may need to have a wider scope than the evidence at stake (for example new scientific developments becoming available).
- (23) The Fitness Check of the General Food Law demonstrated that although the Authority has made considerable progress in terms of transparency, the risk assessment process, especially in the context of authorisation procedures covering the agri-food chain, is not always perceived as fully transparent. This is also partly due to the different transparency and confidentiality rules that are laid down not only in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 but also in other Union **sectoral** legislative acts ~~covering the agri-food chain~~. Their interplay can impact on the acceptability of the risk assessment by the general public.
- (24) The European Citizens' Initiative "Ban glyphosate and protect people and the environment from toxic pesticides" further confirmed concerns regarding transparency with respect to studies commissioned by the industry and submitted in authorisation application⁷.
- (25) It is therefore necessary to strengthen the transparency of the risk assessment process in a proactive manner. Public access to all scientific data and information supporting requests for authorisations under Union food law as well as other requests for scientific output should be ensured, as early as possible in the risk assessment process. However, this process should be without prejudice to existing intellectual property rights or to any provisions of Union ~~food~~ law protecting the investment made by innovators in gathering the information and data supporting relevant applications ~~for authorisations~~.
- (26) Where the opinion of the Authority is requested in relation to **applications submitted** ~~authorisation procedures~~ under Union ~~food~~ law and having regard to its obligation to ensure public access to all supporting information with respect to the provision of its scientific outputs, the Authority should have responsibility for assessing confidentiality requests.

⁷ Communication from the Commission on the ECI "Ban glyphosate and protect people and the environment from toxic pesticides", C(2017) 8414 final.

- (27) To determine what level of disclosure strikes the appropriate balance, the relevant rights of the public to transparency in the risk assessment process, should be weighted up against the rights of ~~commercial~~ applicants, taking into account the objectives of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.
- (28) Accordingly and with respect to the **application** procedures ~~governing requests for authorisation procedures~~ provided in Union food law, experience gained so far has shown that certain information items are generally considered sensitive and should remain confidential across the different sectoral ~~authorisation~~ procedures. It is appropriate to lay down in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 a horizontal list of information items whose disclosure ~~may be considered~~ **is demonstrated by the applicant to significantly potentially** harm the commercial interests concerned **to a significant degree** and should not therefore be disclosed to the public; (“general horizontal list of confidential items”). **These items should amongst others comprise the manufacturing and production process, including technical and industrial specifications, such as impurities, inherent to that process except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety.** Only in very limited and exceptional circumstances relating to foreseeable health **or environmental** effects and **where relevant authorities have identified** urgent needs to protect human health, animal health or the environment, such information should be disclosed.
- (29) For the purposes of clarity and to increase legal certainty, it is necessary to set out the specific procedural requirements to be followed **by an applicant** in respect of a request for information submitted ~~for the purposes of authorisation procedures~~ **to support an application** under Union ~~food~~ law to be treated in a confidential manner.
- (30) It is also necessary to set out specific requirements with respect to the protection of personal data for the purposes of the transparency of the risk assessment process taking into account Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council⁸ and Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council⁹. Accordingly, no personal data should be made publicly available under this Regulation, unless it is necessary and proportionate for the purposes of ensuring the transparency, independence and the reliability of the risk assessment process, while preventing conflicts of interests.

⁸ Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2000 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data (OJ L 8, 12.1.2001, p. 1).

⁹ Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data, and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation) (OJ L 119, 4.5.2016, p. 1).

- (31) For the purposes of increased transparency and in order to ensure that requests for scientific outputs received by the Authority are processed in an effective manner, standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ should be developed. In order to ensure uniform conditions for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 with regard to the adoption of standard data formats ~~and software packages~~, implementing powers should be conferred on the Commission. Those powers should be exercised in accordance with Regulation (EU) No 182/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁰.
- (32) Having regard to the fact that the Authority would be required to store scientific data, including confidential and personal data, it is necessary to ensure that such storage is carried out in accordance with a high level of security.
- (33) Furthermore, in order to assess the effectiveness and efficiency of the different provisions applying to the Authority, it is also appropriate to provide for a Commission evaluation of the Authority, in *line* ~~accordance~~ with the Common Approach on Decentralised Agencies. The evaluation should, in particular, review the procedures for selecting the members of Scientific Committee and Panels, for their degree of transparency, cost-effectiveness, and suitability to ensure independence and competence, and to prevent conflicts of interests.

¹⁰ Regulation (EU) No 182/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 2011 laying down the rules and general principles concerning mechanisms for control by Member States of the Commission's exercise of implementing powers, (OJ L 55, 28.2.2011, p. 13).

- (34) In order to ensure consistency with the proposed adaptations in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, provisions relating to public access and the protection of confidential information in Directive 2001/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council¹¹, Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹², in Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹³, in Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁴, in Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁵, in Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁶, in Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁷ and in Regulation (EU) 2015/2283 of the European Parliament and of the Council¹⁸ should be amended.
- ~~(35) For the purposes of ensuring transparency of the risk assessment process, it is also necessary to extend the scope of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, currently limited to food law, to also cover applications for authorisations in the context of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 as regards feed additives, Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 as regards food contact materials and Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 as regards plant protection products.~~

¹¹ Directive 2001/18/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 March 2001 on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms and repealing Council Directive 90/220/EEC (OJ L 106, 17.4.2001, p. 1).

¹² Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on genetically modified food and feed (OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 1).

¹³ Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition (OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 29).

¹⁴ Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 10 November 2003 on smoke flavourings used or intended for use in or on foods (OJ L 309, 26.11.2003, p. 1).

¹⁵ Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 October 2004 on materials and articles intended to come into contact with food and repealing Directives 80/590/EEC and 89/109/EEC (OJ L 338, 13.11.2004, p. 4).

¹⁶ Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 2008 establishing a common authorisation procedure for food additives, food enzymes and food flavourings (OJ L 354, 31.12.2008, p. 1).

¹⁷ Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market and repealing Council Directives 79/117/EEC and 91/414/EEC (OJ L 309, 24.11.2009, p. 1).

¹⁸ Regulation (EU) 2015/2283 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 25 November 2015 on novel foods, amending Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Regulation (EC) No 258/97 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Commission Regulation (EC) No 1852/2001 (OJ L 327, 11.12.2015, p. 1).

(36) To ensure that sectoral specificities with respect to confidential information are taken into account, it is necessary to weigh up the relevant rights of the public to transparency in the risk assessment process, ~~including those flowing from the Aarhus Convention¹⁹~~, against the rights of ~~commercial~~ applicants, taking into account the specific objectives of sectoral Union legislation as well as experienced gained. Accordingly, it is *in particular* necessary to amend Directive 2001/18/EC, Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003, Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004, **Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008**, ~~and~~ Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 **and Regulation (EU) No 2015/2283** to provide for additional confidential items to those set out in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.

(36a) It should be understood that the rules on confidentiality provided for in Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 are not intended to affect access to information upon request.

~~(37) In order to further strengthen the link between risk assessors and risk managers at Union and national levels as well as the coherence and consistency of risk communication, the power to adopt acts in accordance with Article 290 of the Treaty should be delegated to the Commission to adopt a general plan on risk communication on matters covering the agri-food chain. It is of particular importance that the Commission carries out appropriate consultations during its preparatory work, including at expert level, and that those consultations be conducted in accordance with the principles laid down in the Interinstitutional Agreement on Better Law-Making of 13 April 2016. In particular, to ensure equal participation in the preparation of delegated acts, the European Parliament and the Council receive all documents at the same time as Member States' experts, and their experts systematically have access to meetings of Commission expert groups dealing with the preparation of delegated acts.~~

(38) In order to enable the Authority and the business operators to adapt to the new requirements while ensuring that the Authority continues its smooth operation, it is necessary to provide for transitional measures for the application of this Regulation.

(39) The appointment of the Scientific Committee and Scientific Panels' members being dependent of the entry in function of the new Management Board, it is necessary to provide for specific transitional provisions allowing a prolongation of the current term of office of the members of the Scientific Committee and Scientific Panels members.

¹⁹ Regulation (EC) No 1367/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 September 2006 on the application of the provisions of the Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters to Community institutions and bodies (OJ L 264, 25.9.2006, p.13).

- (40) The European Data Protection Supervisor was consulted in accordance with Article 28(2) of Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council²⁰ and delivered an opinion on [...],

HAVE ADOPTED THIS REGULATION:

Article 1
Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 178/2002

Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 is amended as follows:

(0) *in Article 6 the following paragraph is inserted:*

"4. Risk communication shall fulfill the objectives and respect the general principles set out in Articles 8a and 8b."

(1) in Chapter II the following SECTION 1a is inserted:

"SECTION 1a

RISK COMMUNICATION

Article 8a
Objectives of risk communication

Risk communication shall pursue the following objectives, while taking into account the respective roles of risk assessors and risk managers:

- (a) ~~promote~~ ***raise*** awareness and understanding of the specific issues under consideration during the entire risk analysis process;
 - (b) ~~promote~~ ***ensure*** consistency and transparency in formulating risk management recommendations ***and decisions***;
 - (c) provide a sound basis for understanding risk management decisions;
- (ca) improve the overall effectiveness and efficiency of the risk analysis process;***

²⁰ Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2000 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data (OJ L 8, 12.1.2001, p. 1).

- (d) foster public understanding of the risk analysis process so as to enhance confidence in its outcome;
- (e) ~~promote~~ **ensure** appropriate involvement of all interested parties; and,
- (f) ensure appropriate exchange of information with interested parties in relation to risks associated with the ~~agri-~~food chain.

Article 8b

General principles of risk communication

Taking into account the respective roles of risk assessors and risk managers, risk communication shall:

- (a) ensure that accurate, appropriate and timely information is interactively exchanged, based on the principles of transparency, openness, and responsiveness;
- (b) provide transparent information at each stage of the risk analysis process from the framing of requests for scientific advice to the provision of risk assessment and the adoption of risk management decisions;
- (c) take into account risk perceptions *of all interested parties*;
- (d) facilitate understanding and dialogue amongst all interested parties; and,
- (e) be *clear and* accessible, including to those not directly involved in the process *or not having a scientific background*, while ~~taking into account~~ *duly respecting the applicable provisions on* confidentiality and protection of personal data.

Article 8c

General plan for risk communication

1. *Within two years from the date of application of Regulation xxx/xxxx²¹, the Commission shall draw up*, in close cooperation with the *European Food Safety Authority*, *and* the Member States ~~and following appropriate public consultations shall be empowered to adopt delegated acts in accordance with Article 57a establishing~~ *non-binding guidelines on* a general plan for risk communication ~~on matters relating to the agri-food chain, taking into account~~ *based on* the relevant objectives and general principles set out in Articles 8a and 8b, *and shall keep them updated, taking into account technical and scientific progress and experience gained.*

²¹ *OJ: please insert the serial number of this amending Regulation.*

2. The general plan for risk communication shall *aim at promoting* an integrated risk communication framework ~~for to be followed both by~~ the risk assessors and the risk managers in a coherent and systematic manner both at Union and national level. It shall *aim at identifying*:
- (a) ~~identify~~ the key factors that need to be taken into account when considering the type and level of risk communications' activities needed;
 - (b) ~~identify~~ *the different types and levels of risk communication activities, and* the appropriate main tools and channels to be used for risk communication purposes, taking into account the needs of relevant target audience groups; ~~and,~~
 - (c) ~~establish~~ appropriate mechanisms *of coordination and cooperation* in order to strengthen coherence of risk communication amongst risk assessors and risk managers, and,
 - (d) *appropriate mechanisms to* ensure an open dialogue amongst all interested parties.
- ~~3. The Commission shall adopt the general plan for risk communication within [two years from the date of application of this Regulation] and shall keep it updated, taking into account technical and scientific progress and experience gained.";~~

(2) Article 25 is amended as follows:

- (a) paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. Each Member State shall nominate a member and an alternate member *as its representatives* to the Management Board. The members and alternate members thus nominated shall be appointed by the Council and have ~~voting rights~~ *the right to vote*.”,
- (b) the following paragraphs 1a and 1b are inserted:

“1a. In addition to members and alternate members referred to in paragraph 1, the Management Board shall include:

 - (a) two members and the alternate members appointed by the Commission and representing the Commission, with the right to vote.
 - (b) one member *and an alternate member* appointed by the European Parliament, with the right to vote.

(c) four members **and alternate members** with the right to vote representing civil society and food chain interests namely, one from consumers organisations, one from environmental non-governmental organisations, one from farmers organisations and one from industry organisations. Those members **and alternate members** shall be appointed by the Council in consultation with the European Parliament on the basis of a list drawn up by the Commission which includes more names than there are posts to be filled. The list drawn up by the Commission shall be forwarded to the European Parliament, together with the relevant background documents. As quickly as possible and within three months of notification, the European Parliament may submit its views for consideration to the Council, which shall then appoint those members.

1b. The members of the Management Board and ~~where relevant~~, the alternate members shall be **nominated and appointed** ~~taking into account high competence in the area of food safety risk assessment as well as competences in the food chain safety legislation and policy, and relevant managerial, administrative and budgetary/financial skills~~ **on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise in the field of food chain legislation and policy, including risk assessment whilst ensuring there is relevant expertise in the fields of general, financial and legal matters.**”

(c) paragraph 2 is replaced by the following:

“2. The term of office of members and alternate members shall be four years **and may be renewed**. However, ~~the term of office of the members referred to in paragraph 1a(a) and (b) shall not be limited in duration. The term of office of the members referred to in paragraph 1a(c) may be renewed~~ **only once.**”

(d) the second subparagraph of paragraph 5 is replaced by the following:

“Unless otherwise provided, the Management Board shall act by a majority of its members. Alternate members shall represent the members in **their** ~~his~~ absence and vote on ~~his~~ **their** behalf.”;

(3) Article 28 is amended as follows:

(a) Paragraph 5 is replaced by the following:

“5. The members of the Scientific Committee who are not members of Scientific Panels and the ~~additional members~~ **of the Scientific Panels** referred to in ~~paragraph 5b~~ shall be appointed by the Management Board, acting upon a proposal from the Executive Director, for a five year term of office, which may be renewed, following publication in the *Official Journal of the European Union*, in relevant leading scientific publications and on the Authority’s website of a call for expressions of interest. **The Authority shall publish the call after having informed the Member States on the criteria and areas of expertise. The Member States shall:**

- (a) **publish the call on the websites of their competent authorities and of their competent bodies which undertake tasks similar to those of the Authority,**
- (b) **inform relevant scientific organisations located on their territory;**
- (c) **encourage potential candidates to apply; and,**
- (d) **take any other appropriate measures to support the call.”**

(b) The following paragraphs 5a to 5g are inserted:

“5a. The members **of the Scientific Committee who are not members of Scientific Panels and the members** of the Scientific Panels shall be **selected and** appointed ~~by the Management Board for a renewable five year term of office~~ in accordance with the following procedure:

- (a) **On the basis of the applications received to a call for expressions of interest,** ~~the Executive Director, after consulting the Management Board,~~ shall **draw up a draft list of suitable candidates including at least twice the number of candidates necessary to fill the Scientific Committee and the Scientific Panels and send the draft list to the Management Board, indicating** ~~send to the Member States the request for the specific multidisciplinary expertise needed in each Scientific Panel and shall indicate the number of experts to be nominated by the Member States. The Executive Director shall notify the Member States of the Authority’s independence policy and implementing rules applicable to Scientific Panels’ members. Member States shall launch a call for interest as a basis for their nominations. The Executive Director shall inform the Management Board of the requests sent to the Member States.~~
- (b) ~~Member States shall nominate experts with a view to collectively reach the number indicated by the Executive Director. Each Member State shall nominate at least 12 scientific experts. Member States may nominate nationals of other Member States.~~

- (c) On the basis of the ~~nominations made by Member States,~~ the Executive Director shall draw for each Scientific Panel a list of experts larger than the number of members to be appointed. The Executive Director may not draw up such a list where he/she can justify that the nominations received do not allow him, given the criteria for selection set up in point d) of this paragraph, to draw up a larger list. The Executive Director shall submit the ~~draft~~ list, to the Management Board for appointment ***shall appoint the members of the Scientific Committee who are not members of the Scientific Panels and the members of the Scientific Panels and determine the reserve list of candidates for the Scientific Committee and the Scientific Panels.***
- (d) The ~~nominations by the Member States,~~ the selection by the Executive Director and the appointments by the Management Board ***of the members of the Scientific Committee who are not members of the Scientific Panels and the members of the Scientific Panels*** shall be made on the basis of the following criteria:
- (i) A high level of scientific expertise;
- (ii) Independence and absence of conflict of interests in accordance with Article 37(2) and the Authority's independence policy and ***its implementation in respect of implementing rules on the independence of the Scientific Panels' members;***
- (iii) Meeting the needs for the specific multi-disciplinary expertise of the Panel to which they will be appointed and the applicable language regime.
- (e) ***Where candidates have equivalent scientific expertise,*** ~~the~~ Management Board shall ensure that the broadest possible geographical distribution is achieved in the ~~final~~ appointments.
- 5b. When the Authority identifies that specific expertise is missing in a ***one*** Panel or several Panels, the Executive Director shall propose ***to the Management Board, in accordance with the procedure laid down in paragraphs 5 and 5a, the appointment of*** additional members of the Panel(s) for appointment to the Management Board ~~in accordance with the procedure laid down in paragraph 5.~~
- 5c. The Management Board shall adopt, on the basis of a proposal of the Executive Director, rules on the detailed organisation and timing of the procedures set up in paragraphs 5a and 5b of the present Article.

5d. ~~The Member States shall put in place measures ensuring that the members of the Scientific Panels act independently and remain free from conflict of interests as provided for in Article 37(2) and the Authority's internal measures. Member States shall ensure that the members of the Scientific Panels have the means to dedicate the necessary time and effort to contribute to the work of the Authority. Member States shall ensure that the members of the Scientific Panels do not receive any instruction at any national level and that their independent scientific contribution to the risk assessment system at Union level is recognised as a priority task for the protection of the safety of the food chain.~~
Member States and employers of the members of the Scientific Committee and of the Scientific Panels shall refrain from giving the members of the Scientific Committee and Scientific Panels, or the external experts participating in their working groups, any instruction which is incompatible with the individual tasks of those persons, or with the tasks, responsibilities and independence of the Authority.

~~5e. Member States shall ensure that the public bodies employing those scientific experts and those having responsibility for the setting of priorities of the scientific bodies employing those experts implement the measures provided for in paragraph 5d.~~

5f. The Authority shall support the tasks of the ***Scientific Committee and Scientific Panels*** by organising their work, in particular the preparatory work to be undertaken by the Authority's staff or by designated national scientific organisations referred to in the Article 36 including by organising the possibility for preparing scientific opinions to be peer-reviewed by the Panels before they adopt them.

5g. Each Panel shall include a maximum of 21 members.”,

(c) paragraph 9(b) is replaced by the following:

“The number of members in each Scientific Panel within the maximum provided for in paragraph 5g.”;

(4) the following Articles 32a, 32b, 32c, 32d and 32e are inserted:

“Article 32a

Pre-submission ~~General~~ advice

~~At the request of a potential applicant for a food law authorisation, Where Union law makes provisions for the Authority to provide a scientific output, including a scientific opinion, the staff of the Authority shall advise, at the request of a potential applicant, provide advice on the relevant provisions and the required content of the application for authorisation, prior to its submission. The Such advice provided by the staff of the Authority shall be without prejudice and non-committal as to any the subsequent assessment of applications for authorisation by the Scientific Panels.~~

Article 32b

Notification ~~Union Register of Studies~~

1. ~~The Authority shall establish and manage a A Union register database of studies commissioned or carried out by business operators to support an application or notification obtain an authorisation in relation to which under Union food law makes provisions for the Authority to provide a scientific output, including a scientific opinion is hereby established.~~

~~1a. For the purposes of paragraph 1, Bbusiness operators shall notify, without delay, to the Authority the subject matter title, the scope of the study, the laboratory or testing facility carrying out the study, and the starting and planned completion dates of any study commissioned or carried out by them to support an future application or notification for an authorisation under Union food law. The register shall be managed by the Authority~~

2. The notification obligation under paragraph 1a shall also applyies to ~~Union~~ laboratories and other testing facilities located in the Union carrying out those studies.

~~This provision shall also apply, mutatis mutandis, to laboratories and other testing facilities located in third countries insofar as set out in relevant agreements and arrangements, including as referred to in Article 49.~~

3. The notified information shall be made public only in case a corresponding application ~~for authorisation~~ has been received and after the Authority has decided on the disclosure of the accompanying studies in accordance with Article 38 and Articles 39 to 39f.

4. The Authority shall lay down ~~in its internal rules~~ the practical arrangements for implementing the notification obligations laid down in paragraphs 1a and 2, including ~~consequences~~ **arrangements for requesting and publishing justifications in cases** of non-compliance with the notification obligation. Those arrangements shall ~~however be~~ in accordance with the present Regulation and other **relevant** Union ~~sectoral food~~ law.

Article 32c

Consultation of third parties

1. Where **relevant** Union ~~food~~ law provides that an authorisation may be renewed, the potential applicant for the renewal shall notify the Authority of the studies it intends to perform for that purpose. Following this notification, the Authority shall launch a consultation of stakeholders and the public on the intended studies for renewal and shall provide advice on the content of the intended renewal application taking into account the received comments. The advice provided by the Authority shall be without prejudice and non-committal as to the subsequent assessment of the applications for renewal of authorisation by the Scientific Panels.
2. The Authority shall consult stakeholders and the public **on the basis of the non-confidential version of the application** made public by the Authority in accordance with Article 38 and Articles 39 to 39f in order to identify whether other relevant scientific data or studies are available on the subject matter concerned by the application ~~for authorisation~~. ***In duly justified cases, where there is a risk that the results of the public consultation performed in accordance with this paragraph cannot be given due consideration due to the applicable time limits within which the Authority is required to deliver its scientific output, these applicable time limits may be extended for a maximum period of seven weeks.*** This provision does not apply to the submission of any supplementary information by the applicants during the risk assessment process.
3. The Authority shall lay down ~~in its internal rules~~ the practical arrangement for implementing the procedures referred to in Articles 32a and this Article.

Article ~~32d~~ 61a²²

Controls Fact-finding missions

~~The Commission experts shall perform *fact finding missions in Member States to assess the application, by laboratories and other controls, including audits, to obtain assurance that testing facilities comply with of the* relevant standards for carrying out tests and studies submitted to the Authority as part of an application for an authorisation under Union food law. These controls shall be organised in cooperation with the competent authorities of the Member States.~~

Commission experts shall also perform fact finding missions to assess the application of these standards by laboratories and other testing facilities located in third countries insofar as set out in relevant agreements and arrangements, including as referred to in Article 49.

The outcome of these fact finding missions shall be presented in a report within four years after the date of application of Regulation xxx/xxx²³.

Article 32de

Verification studies

Without prejudice to the obligation of applicants for authorisations under food law to demonstrate the safety of a subject matter submitted to a system of authorisation, the Commission, in exceptional circumstance, may request the Authority to commission scientific studies with the objective of verifying evidence used in its risk assessment process. The studies commissioned may have a wider scope than the evidence subject to verification.”;

(5) Article 38 is amended as follows:

(a) Paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. The Authority shall carry out its activities with a high level of transparency. It shall in particular make public ~~without delay~~:

(a) agendas and minutes of the Scientific Committee and the Scientific Panels and their Working Groups;

²² This Article will be moved and be the new Article 61a.

²³ ***OJ: please insert the serial number of this amending Regulation***

- (b) all its scientific outputs, including the opinions of the Scientific Committee and the Scientific Panels after adoption, minority opinions and results of consultations performed during the risk assessment process always being included;
 - (c) scientific data, studies and other information supporting applications ~~for authorisation under Union food law~~, including supplementary information supplied by applicants, as well as other scientific data and information supporting requests from the European Parliament, the Commission and the Member States for a scientific output, including a scientific opinion, taking into account protection of confidential information and protection of personal data in accordance with Articles 39 to 39f.
 - (d) the information on which its scientific outputs, including scientific opinions are based, taking into account protection of confidential data and protection of personal data in accordance with Articles 39 to 39f;
 - (e) the annual declarations of interest made by members of the Management Board, the Executive Director, members of the Advisory Forum and members of the Scientific Committee, Scientific Panels and of their Working Groups, as well as the declarations of interest made in relation to items on the agendas of meetings;
 - (f) its scientific studies in accordance with Articles 32 and 32ed;
 - (g) the annual report of its activities;
 - (h) requests from the European Parliament, the Commission or a Member State for scientific opinions which have been refused or modified and the justifications for the refusal or modification;
 - (i) **a summary of the** advices provided by the Authority to potential applicants at pre-submission phase pursuant to Article 32a and 32c.
2. ***Items referred to in points (a), (b), (d), (e), (f), (g) and (h) shall be made public without undue delay. Items referred to in points (c) and (i) shall be made public once an application has been considered valid or admissible.***

Those items referred to in the first subparagraph shall be made public on a dedicated section of the Authority's website. That section shall be publicly available and easily accessible. The relevant items shall be available to download, print and search through in an electronic format.”,

(b) the following paragraph 1a is inserted:

“1a. The disclosure of the information mentioned in paragraph (1)(c) to the public shall be without prejudice *to*:

- (a) ~~to~~ any intellectual property right which may exist over documents or their content; and,
- (b) any provisions set out in Union ~~food~~ law protecting the investment made by innovators in gathering the information and data supporting relevant applications for authorisations (‘data exclusivity rules’).

The disclosure to the public of the information mentioned in paragraph (1)(c) shall not be considered as an explicit or implicit permission or license for the relevant data and information and their content to be used, reproduced, or otherwise exploited ***in breach of any intellectual property right or data exclusivity rules*** and its use by third parties shall not engage the responsibility of the European Union.”

(c) paragraph 3 is replaced by the following:

“3. The Authority shall lay down ~~in its internal rules~~ the practical arrangements for implementing the transparency rules referred to in paragraphs 1, 1a and 2 of this Article, taking into account Articles 39 to 39g and Article 41.”;

(6) Article 39 is replaced by the following:

“Article 39
Confidentiality

1. By way of derogation from Article 38, the Authority shall not make public information for which confidential treatment has been requested under the conditions laid down in this Article.
2. The Authority may ~~only accept to provide~~ ***grant*** confidential treatment ~~in relation to the following~~ ***only with respect to the information items listed in this paragraph upon request of an applicant, where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated by the applicant to potentially harm its interests to a significant degree., the disclosure of which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, to significantly harm the interests concerned:***

Those information items are:

- (1) *the manufacturing or production process, including* the method and other technical and industrial specifications ~~relating~~ *inherent* to that *process or method, except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety*, used to manufacture or produce the subject matter of the request for a scientific output, including a scientific opinion;
 - (2) commercial links between a producer or importer and the applicant or the authorisation holder, where applicable;
 - (3) commercial information revealing sourcing, market shares or business strategy of the applicant; and,
 - (4) quantitative composition of the subject matter of the request ~~for a scientific output, including a scientific opinion.~~
3. The list of information referred to in paragraph 2 shall be without prejudice to any specific *sectoral* Union food law.
4. Notwithstanding paragraphs 2 and 3, ~~the following information shall nevertheless be made public:~~
- (a) Where urgent action is essential to protect public health, animal health or the environment, such as in emergency situations, the Authority may disclose the information referred to *in those* paragraphs ~~2 and 3; and.~~
 - (b) ~~Information~~ *Information* which forms part of conclusions of scientific outputs, including scientific opinions, delivered by the Authority and which relate to foreseeable *effects on public health, animal health or the environment* ~~effects, shall nevertheless be made public.~~”;
- (7) the following Articles 39a to 39g are inserted:

“Article 39a

Request for confidentiality

1. When submitting an application ~~for an authorisation~~, supporting scientific data and other supplementary information in accordance with Union food law, the applicant may request certain parts of the information submitted to be kept confidential in accordance with paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 39. This request shall be accompanied by verifiable justification demonstrating how making public the information concerned significantly harms the interests concerned in accordance with paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 39.

2. Where an applicant submits a request for confidentiality, it shall provide a non-confidential version and a confidential version of the information submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist, pursuant to Article 39f. The non-confidential version shall be without the information the applicant deems confidential in accordance with paragraphs 2 and 3 of Article 39. The confidential version shall contain all information submitted, including information the applicant deems confidential. Information requested to be treated as confidential in the confidential version shall be clearly marked. The applicant shall clearly indicate the grounds on the basis of which confidentiality is requested for the different pieces of information.

Article 39b
Decision on confidentiality

1. The Authority shall:
 - (a) make public, ~~without delay~~, the non-confidential version ***of the application***, as submitted by the applicant ***once that application has been considered valid or admissible***;
 - (b) proceed, without delay, to a concrete and individual examination of the confidentiality request in accordance with this Article;
 - (c) inform the applicant in writing of its intention to disclose information and the reasons for it, before the Authority formally takes a decision on the confidentiality request. If the applicant disagrees with the assessment of the Authority it may state its views or withdraw its application within two weeks from the date on which it was notified of the Authority's position;
 - (d) adopt a reasoned decision on the confidentiality request taking into account the observations of the applicant within ten weeks from the date of receipt of the confidentiality request with respect to applications for authorisation and without undue delay in the case of supplementary data and information, ~~and~~ notify the applicant ***of its decision and provide information on the right to make a confirmatory application in accordance with paragraph 2 of this Article***, and inform the Commission and the Member States, as appropriate, of its decision; and,

- (e) make public any additional data and information for which the confidentiality request has not been accepted as justified not earlier than two weeks after the notification of its decision to the applicant has taken place, pursuant to point (d).
2. ***Within two weeks from the notification of the Authority's decision on the confidentiality request to the applicant pursuant to paragraph 1, the applicant may make a confirmatory application asking the Authority to reconsider its decision. The confirmatory application shall have suspensive effect. The Authority shall examine the grounds of the confirmatory application, adopt a reasoned decision on that confirmatory application and notify the applicant of that decision within three weeks after lodging the confirmatory application. The Authority shall make public any additional data and information for which the confidentiality request has not been accepted as justified by the Authority not earlier than two weeks after the notification of the Authority's reasoned decision on the confirmatory application to the applicant has taken place pursuant to this paragraph.***
3. Decisions taken by the Authority pursuant to this Article may be subject to an action before the Court of Justice of the European Union, under the conditions laid down in Articles 263 and 278 of the Treaty respectively.

Article 39c

Review of confidentiality

Before the Authority issues its scientific outputs, including scientific opinions, it shall review whether information that has been previously accepted as confidential may nevertheless be made public in accordance with paragraph 4(b) of Article 39. Should that be the case, the Authority shall follow the procedure laid down in Article 39b, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.

Article 39d

Obligations with regard to confidentiality

1. The Authority shall make available, upon request, to the Commission and the Member States all information in its possession relating to an application ~~for an authorisation~~ or to a request by the European Parliament, the Commission or the Member States for a scientific output, including a scientific opinion, unless otherwise indicated in specific Union ~~food~~ law.

2. The Commission and the Member States shall take the necessary measures so that information received by them under Union ~~food~~ law for which confidential treatment has been requested is not made public until a decision on the confidentiality request has been taken by the Authority and has become definitive. The Commission and the Member States shall also take the necessary measures so that information for which confidential treatment has been accepted by the Authority is not made public.
3. If an applicant ~~in the context of an authorisation procedure~~ withdraws or has withdrawn an application, the Authority, the Commission and the Member States shall respect the confidentiality of ~~commercial and industrial~~ information as ~~accepted~~ **granted** by the Authority in accordance with Articles 39 to 39f. The application shall be considered withdrawn as of the moment the written request is received by the competent body that had received the original application. Where the withdrawal of the application takes place before the Authority has decided on the relevant confidentiality request, the Authority, the Commission and the Member States shall not make public the information for which confidentiality has been requested.
4. Members of the Management Board, the Executive Director, members of the Scientific Committee and Scientific Panels as well as external experts participating in their working groups, members of the Advisory Forum and members of the staff of the Authority, even after their duties have ceased, shall be subject to the requirements of confidentiality pursuant to Article 339 of the Treaty.
5. The Authority shall lay down ***in consultation with the Commission*** ~~in its internal rules~~ the practical arrangements for implementing the confidentiality rules laid down in Articles 39, 39a, 39b, 39e and this Article, including arrangements concerning the submission and treatment of confidentiality requests with respect to information to be made public under Article 38, and taking into account Articles 39f and 39g.”;

Article 39e

Protection of personal data

1. With respect to requests for scientific outputs, including scientific opinions under Union ~~food~~ law, the Authority shall always make public:
 - (a) the name and address of the applicant;
 - (b) the names of authors of published, or publicly available, studies supporting such requests; and
 - (c) the names of all participants in meetings of the Scientific Committee and the Scientific Panels and their Working Groups.

2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, disclosure of names and addresses of natural persons involved in testing on vertebrate animals or in obtaining toxicological information shall be deemed to significantly harm the privacy and the integrity of those natural persons and shall not be made publicly available unless *otherwise specified in paragraph 3.*
~~there is an overriding public interest.~~
3. Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council²⁴ and Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council²⁵ shall apply to the processing of personal data carried out pursuant to this Regulation. Any personal data made public pursuant to Article 38 and this article shall only be used to ensure the transparency of risk assessment process under this Regulation and not be further processed in a manner that is incompatible with these purposes, in the meaning of Article 5(1)(b) of Regulation (EU) 2016/679 and Article 4(1)(b) of Regulation (EC) No 45/2001, as the case may be.

Article 39f

Standard data formats

1. For the purposes of Article 38(1)(c) and in order to ensure the efficient processing of requests to the Authority for a scientific output, standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ shall be adopted to allow documents to be submitted, searched, copied and printed, while ensuring compliance with regulatory requirements set out in Union ~~food~~ law. These ~~draft~~ standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ shall:
 - (a) not be based on proprietary standards; ~~and shall~~
 - (b) ensure interoperability with existing data submission approaches to the extent possible;-
 - (c) *be user-friendly and adapted for the use by small and medium-sized enterprises.*
2. For the adoption of standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ the following procedure shall be followed:

²⁴ Regulation (EU) 2016/679 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 27 April 2016 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data and repealing Directive 95/46/EC (General Data Protection Regulation), (OJ L 119, 4.5.2016, p. 1).

²⁵ Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2000 on the protection of individuals with regard to the processing of personal data by the Community institutions and bodies and on the free movement of such data (OJ L 8, 12.1.2001, p. 1).

- (a) The Authority shall draw up draft standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ for the purposes of the different authorisation procedures ~~in Union food law~~ and relevant requests for a scientific output by the European Parliament, the Commission and the Member States.
- (b) Taking into account the applicable requirements in the different authorisation procedures and other legislative frameworks and following any necessary adaptations, the Commission shall adopt standard data formats ~~and software~~ by means of implementing acts. Those implementing acts shall be adopted in accordance with Article 58(2).
- (c) The Authority shall make the standard data formats ~~and software packages~~, as adopted, available on its website.
- (d) Where standard data formats ~~and software packages~~ have been adopted pursuant to this article, applications as well as requests for a scientific output, including a scientific opinion by the European Parliament, the Commission and the Member States ~~under Union food law~~, shall only be submitted in accordance with ~~the~~ *those* standard data formats ~~and software packages laid down in those acts~~.

Article 39g

Information systems

The information systems operated by the Authority to store its data, including confidential and personal data shall be designed to a high level of security appropriate to the security risks at stake, taking into account Articles 39 to 39f of this Regulation. ~~Access shall be based at the minimum on a system requiring two factor authentication or providing an equivalent level of security. The system shall ensure that any access to it is fully auditable.”;~~

- (8) in Article 40, the second subparagraph of paragraph 3 is replaced by the following:

“The Authority shall publish all scientific outputs including the scientific opinions issued by it and supporting scientific data and other information in accordance with Article 38 and Articles 39 a to 39f.”;

- (9) in Article 41, ~~the following sentence is added at the end of paragraph 1:~~

(a) paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

- 1. Notwithstanding the rules on confidentiality provided for in Articles 39 to 39d, Regulation (EC) No 1049/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council²⁶ shall apply to documents held by the Authority.*

²⁶ *Regulation (EC) No 1049/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council on public access to EU institution documents (OJ L 145, 31.5.2001, p. 43).*

Where environmental information is concerned, ~~Articles 6 and Article 7~~ of Regulation (EC) No 1367/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council²⁷ shall also apply. ***Directive 2003/4/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council***²⁸ shall apply to environmental information held by Member States, notwithstanding the rules on confidentiality provided for in Articles 39 to 39d.

(b) *paragraph 2 is replaced by the following:*

2. ***The Management Board shall adopt the practical arrangements for implementing Regulation (EC) No 1049/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Articles 6 and 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1367/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, within six months after the date of application referred to in Article 11(2) of Regulation (EU) No xxxx/xxxx***²⁹, ensuring as wide access as possible to documents in its possession.

~~(10) the following Article 57a is inserted after the title of Section 1 in Chapter V:~~

~~“Article 57a~~

~~**Exercise of the delegation**~~

- ~~1. The power to adopt delegated acts is conferred upon the Commission subject to the conditions laid down in this Article.~~
- ~~2. The powers to adopt delegated acts referred to in Article 8(c) shall be conferred upon the Commission for an indeterminate period of time from [date of entry into force of this Regulation].~~
- ~~3. The delegation of power referred to in Article 8(c) may be revoked at any time by the European Parliament or by the Council. A decision to revoke shall put an end to the delegation of power specified in that decision. It shall take effect the day following the publication of the decision in the Official Journal of the European Union or at a later date specified therein. It shall not affect the validity of any delegated acts already in force.~~

²⁷ Regulation (EC) No 1367/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 6 September 2006 on the application of the provisions of the Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision-making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters to Community institutions and bodies (OJ L 264, 25.9.2006, p. 13).

²⁸ ***Directive 2003/4/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2003 on public access to environmental information and repealing Council Directive 90/313/EE (OJ L 41, 14.2.2003, p. 26–32)***

²⁹ ***OJ: please insert the serial number of this amending Regulation.***

4. ~~Before adopting a delegated act, the Commission shall consult experts designated by each Member State in accordance with the principles laid down in the Inter-institutional Agreement on Better Law-Making of 13 April 2016³⁰.~~
5. ~~As soon as it adopts a delegated act, the Commission shall notify it simultaneously to the European Parliament and to the Council.~~
6. ~~A delegated act adopted pursuant to Article 8(c) shall enter into force only if no objection has been expressed either by the European Parliament or by the Council within a period of two months of notification of that act to the European Parliament and the Council or if, before the expiry of that period, the European Parliament and the Council have both informed the Commission that they will not object. That period shall be extended by two months at the initiative of the European Parliament or of the Council.”;~~

(11) Article 61 is replaced by the following:

“Article 61
Review clause

1. The Commission shall ensure the regular review of the application of this Regulation.
2. Not later than five years after the date referred to in Article ***of application of Regulation xxx/xxx***³¹ [entry into force of the Regulation amending the GFL], and every five years thereafter, the Commission shall assess the Authority’s performance in relation to its objectives, mandate, tasks, procedures and location, in accordance with Commission guidelines. The evaluation shall address the possible need to modify the mandate of the Authority, and the financial implications of any such modification.
3. Where the Commission considers that the continuation of the Authority is no longer justified with regard to its assigned objectives, mandate and tasks, it may propose that the relevant provisions of this Regulation be amended accordingly or repealed.
4. The Commission shall report to the European Parliament, the Council and the Management Board on the evaluation findings. The findings of the evaluation shall be made public.”

³⁰ OJ L 123, 12.5.2016, p. 1.

³¹ ***OJ: please insert the serial number of this amending Regulation.***

Article 2

Amendments to Directive (EC) 2001/18/EC on the deliberate release into the environment of genetically modified organisms

Directive (EC) No 2001/18/EC is amended as follows:

(1) In Article 6, the following paragraph 2a is inserted:

“2a. The notification referred to in paragraph 1 shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist *under Union law*, pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.”;

(2) In Article 13, the following paragraph 2a is inserted:

“2a. The notification referred to in paragraph 1 shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist *under Union law*, pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.”;

(3) Article 25 is replaced by the following:

“Article 25 **Confidentiality**

1. *The notifier may request certain parts of the information submitted under this Directive to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification, in accordance with paragraphs 3 and 6 of this Article.*

~~In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Article 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*, and this article,~~

- ~~(a) the notifier/applicant may request certain information submitted under this Directive to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification; and,~~
- ~~b) the competent authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the notifier/applicant.~~

2. *The competent authority shall assess the request for confidentiality submitted by the notifier.*

~~In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3) thereof, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*, confidential treatment may be accepted with respect to the following information, the disclosure of is proven which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, to significantly harm the interests concerned:~~

3. ***The competent authority may grant confidential treatment only with respect to the information items listed in this paragraph, upon verifiable justification, where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated by the applicant to potentially harm its interests to a significant degree:***
 - (a) ***information referred to in points (1), (2) and (3) of Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002;***
 - (b)~~(a)~~ ***DNA sequence information, except for sequences used for the purpose of detection, identification and quantification of the transformation event; and,***
 - (c)~~(b)~~ ***breeding patterns and strategies.”;***
4. ***The competent authority shall, after consultation with the notifier, decide which information is to be kept confidential and shall inform the notifier of its decision.***
5. ***Member States, the Commission and the relevant Scientific Committee(s) shall take the necessary measures so that confidential information notified or exchanged under this Directive is not made public.***
6. ***The relevant provisions of Article 39e on protection of personal data and Article 41 on access to documents of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 shall also apply mutatis mutandis.***
7. ***Notwithstanding paragraphs 3, 5 and 6:***
 - (a) ***where urgent action is essential to protect public health, animal health or the environment, such as in emergency situations, the competent authority may disclose the information referred to in paragraph 3; and,***
 - (b) ***information which forms part of the conclusions of the scientific outputs delivered by the relevant Scientific Committee(s) or the conclusions of the assessment reports and which relate to foreseeable effects on human health, animal health or the environment shall nevertheless be made public. In this case, Article 39c of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 shall apply.***

8. ***In the event of a withdrawal of the notification by the notifier, Member States, the Commission and the relevant Scientific Committee(s) shall respect the confidentiality as granted by the competent authority in accordance with this Article. Where the withdrawal of the notification takes place before the competent authority has decided on the relevant confidentiality request, Member States, the Commission and the relevant Scientific Committee(s) shall not make public the information for which confidentiality has been requested.***

(4) In Article 28, the following paragraph 4 is added:

“4. Where the relevant Scientific Committee is consulted under paragraph 1, it shall make public the notification/~~application~~, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the notifier/~~applicant~~, as well as its scientific opinions, ***with the exception of any information to which the competent authority has granted confidential treatment*** in accordance with ~~Article 38 and Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*, and Article 25 of this Directive.~~”.

Article 3

Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 on genetically modified food and feed

Regulation (EC) No 1829/2003 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 5 is amended as follows:

(a) in paragraph 3 the introductory sentence is replaced by the following:

“The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, and shall be accompanied by the following:”;

(b) in paragraph 3 point (l) is replaced by the following:

“(l) an identification of the parts of the application and any other supplementary information that the applicant requests to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification, pursuant to Articles 30 of this Regulation and Article 39 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002; ”;

(c) in paragraph 3 the following point (m) is added :

“(m) a summary of the dossier in a standardised form.”;

(2) in Article 6, paragraph 7 is replaced by the following:

“7. The Authority, in conformity with Article 38(1) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, shall make its opinion public, after deletion of any information identified as confidential in accordance with Articles 39 *to 39f* of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Article 30 of this Regulation. The public may make comments to the Commission within 30 days from such publication.”;

(3) in Article 10, paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. On its own initiative or following a request from a Member State or from the Commission, the Authority shall issue an opinion on whether an authorisation for a product referred to in Article 3(1) still meets the conditions set by this Regulation. It shall forthwith transmit this opinion to the Commission, the authorisation-holder and the Member States. The Authority, in conformity with Article 38(1) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, shall make its opinion public, after deletion of any information identified as confidential in accordance with Articles 39 *to 39f* of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Article 30 of this Regulation. The public may make comments to the Commission within 30 days from such publication.”;

(4) in Article 11(2), the introductory sentence is replaced by the following:

“2. The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and accompanied by the following:”;

(5) Article 17 is amended as follows:

(a) in paragraph 3 the introductory sentence is replaced by the following:

“The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, and accompanied by the following:”;

(b) in paragraph 3 point (l) is replaced by the following:

“(l) an identification of the parts of the application and any other supplementary information that the applicant requests to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification, pursuant to Article 30 of this Regulation and Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002; ”;

(c) in paragraph 3 the following point (m) is added:

“(m) a summary of the dossier in a standardised form.”;

(6) in Article 18, paragraph 7 is replaced by the following:

“7. The Authority, in conformity with Article 38(1) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, shall make its opinion public, after deletion of any information identified as confidential in accordance with Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Article 30 of this Regulation. The public may make comments to the Commission within 30 days from such publication.”;

(7) in Article 22, paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. On its own initiative or following a request from a Member State or from the Commission, the Authority shall issue an opinion on whether an authorisation for a product referred to in Article 15(1) still meets the conditions set by this Regulation. It shall forthwith transmit this opinion to the Commission, the authorisation-holder and the Member States. The Authority, in conformity with Article 38(1) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, shall make its opinion public, after deletion of any information identified as confidential in accordance with Article 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and Article 30 of this Regulation. The public may make comments to the Commission within 30 days from such publication.”;

(8) in Article 23, the introductory sentence of paragraph 2 is replaced by the following:

“2. The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and accompanied by the following.”;

(9) in Article 29, paragraphs 1 and 2 are replaced by the following:

“1. The Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, as well as its scientific opinions and opinions from the competent authorities referred to in Article 4 of Directive 2001/18/EC, in accordance with Article 38 ~~and~~, Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and taking into account Article 30 of this Regulation.

2. The Authority shall apply Regulation (EC) No 1049/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 30 May 2001 regarding public access to European Parliament, Council and Commission documents when handling applications for access to documents held by the Authority.”;

(10) Article 30 is replaced by the following:

“Article 30
Confidentiality

1. In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and this article,
 - (a) the applicant may request certain **parts of the** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification; and,
 - (b) the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant.

2. In addition to **the information referred to in points (1), (2) and (3) of** Article 39(2) and pursuant to Article 39(3) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, the Authority may also ~~accept to provide~~ **grant** confidential treatment **with respect** to the following information, **where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated** ~~which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, by the applicant to significantly~~ **potentially** harm **its** interests ~~concerned to a significant degree~~:

 - (a) DNA sequence information, except for sequences used for the purpose of detection, identification and quantification of the transformation event; and,
 - (b) breeding patterns and strategies.

3. The use of the detection methods and the reproduction of the reference materials, provided under Article 5(3) and 17(3) for the purpose of applying this Regulation to the GMOs, food or feed to which an application refers, shall not be restricted by the exercise of intellectual property rights or otherwise.”

Article 4
Amendments to Regulation (EC) 1831/2003 on feed additives

Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 7 is amended as follows:

(a) paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. An application for an authorisation as provided for in Article 4 shall be sent to the Commission, in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*. The Commission shall without delay inform the Member States and forward the application to the European Food Safety Authority (hereinafter referred to as the Authority).”;

(b) in paragraph 2 point (c) is replaced by the following:

“(c) **make public** ~~ensure public access to~~ the application and any information supplied by the applicant, in accordance with Article 18.”;

(2) Article 18 is replaced by the following:

“Article 18

Transparency and confidentiality

1. The Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, as well as its scientific opinions, in accordance with Article 38 **and**, Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.
2. In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and this Article, the applicant may request certain **parts of the** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification; and, the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant.
3. In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3) of that Regulation, the Authority may also **grant** ~~accept to provide~~ confidential treatment **with respect** to the following information, **where** the disclosure of **such information is demonstrated** ~~which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, by the applicant to significantly~~ **potentially** harm **its** interests ~~concerned~~ **to a significant degree**:
 - (a) the study plan for studies demonstrating the efficacy of a feed additive in terms of the aims of its intended use as defined in Article 6(1) and Annex I to this Regulation; and,
 - (b) specifications of the impurities of the active substance and the relevant methods of analysis developed internally by the applicant, except for impurities that may have adverse effects on animal health, human health, or the environment”.

Article 5
Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 on smoke flavourings

Regulation (EC) No 2065/2003 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 7 is amended as follows:

(a) in paragraph 2, point (c) is replaced by the following:

“(c) The Authority shall:

- (i) inform without delay the other Member States and the Commission of the application and shall make the application and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant available to them; and,
- (ii) **make public** ~~ensure public access to~~ the application, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, in accordance with Articles 14 and 15.”;

(b) paragraph 4 is replaced by the following:

“The Authority shall publish detailed guidance, following the agreement with the Commission, concerning the preparation and the submission of the application, referred to in paragraph (1), taking into account standard data formats, where they exist in accordance with Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.”;

(2) in Article 14, paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. The Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant as well as its scientific opinions, in accordance with Article 38 **and**, Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.”;

(3) Article 15 is replaced by the following:

“Article 15
Confidentiality

In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002,

- (a) the applicant may request certain **parts of the** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification; and,
- (b) the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant.”.

Article 6

Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 on Food Contact Materials

Regulation (EC) No 1935/2004 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 9 is amended as follows:

(a) in paragraph 1 point (c) is replaced by the following:

“(c) the Authority shall without delay:

(i) inform the other Member States and the Commission of the application and shall make the application and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant available to them; and,

(ii) ***make public*** ~~ensure public access to~~ the application, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, in accordance with Articles 19 and 20.”;

(b) paragraph 2 is replaced by the following:

“2. The Authority shall issue and publish detailed guidelines, following agreement with the Commission, concerning the preparation and the submission of the application, taking into account standard data formats, where they exist in accordance with Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.”;

(2) in Article 19, paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. The Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, as well as its scientific opinions, in accordance with Article 38 ***and***, Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis* and Article 20 of this Regulation.”;

(3) Article 20 is replaced by the following:

“Article 20
Confidentiality

1. In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and this article:

- (a) the applicant may request certain **parts of the** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification; and,
 - (b) the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant.
2. In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3) of that Regulation, the Authority may also **grant** ~~accept to provide~~ confidential treatment **with respect** to the following information, **where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated** ~~which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, by the applicant to significantly~~ **potentially** harm **its** interests ~~concerned to a significant degree~~:
- (a) any information provided in detailed descriptions of starting substances and **mixtures** ~~preparations~~ used to manufacture the substance subject to the authorisation, the composition of ~~preparations~~ **mixtures**, materials or articles in which the applicant intends to use this substance, the manufacturing methods of these ~~preparations~~ **mixtures**, materials or articles, impurities, and migration testing results, **except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety**;
 - (b) the trademark under which the substance, shall be marketed as well as the tradename of the ~~preparations~~ **mixtures**, material or articles in which it shall be used, where applicable; and,
 - (c) any other information deemed confidential within the specific procedural rules referred to in Article 5(1)(n) of this Regulation.”.

Article 7

Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 on the common authorisation procedure for food additives, food enzymes and food flavourings

Regulation (EC) No 1331/2008 is amended as follows:

- (1) in Article 6, the following paragraph 5 is added:

“5. The Authority shall **make public** ~~ensure public access to~~ the additional information supplied by the applicant in accordance with Articles 11 and 12.”;

- (2) Article 11 is replaced by the following:

“Where the Commission requests its opinion in accordance with Article 3(2) of this Regulation, the Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, as well as its scientific opinions, in accordance with Article 38 ~~and~~ Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002. It shall also make public any request for its opinion as well as any extension of period pursuant to Article 6(1) of this Regulation.”;

(3) Article 12 is replaced by the following:

“Article 12
Confidentiality

1. The applicant may request certain *parts of the* information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification, upon submission of the application.
 - 1a. In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3) of that Regulation, the Authority may also grant confidential treatment with respect to the following information, where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated by the applicant to potentially harm its interests to a significant degree:*
 - a) where applicable, information provided in detailed descriptions of starting substances and starting preparations and on how they are used to manufacture the substance subject to the authorisation, and detailed information on the nature and composition of the materials/substances in which the applicant intends to use this substance, except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety;*
 - b) where applicable, detailed analytical information on the variability and stability of individual production batches of the substance, except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety.*
2. Where an opinion by the Authority is required in accordance with Article 3(2) of this Regulation, the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant, in accordance with Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.
3. Where an opinion by the Authority is not required in accordance with Article 3(2) of this Regulation, the Commission shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant. Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.”.

Article 8

Amendments to Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 on plant protection products

Regulation (EC) No 1107/2009 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 7 is amended as follows:

(a) *the first subparagraph of* paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1.—An application for the approval of an active substance or for an amendment to the conditions of an approval shall be submitted by the producer of the active substance to a Member State, (the rapporteur Member State), together with a summary and a complete dossier as provided for in Article 8(1) and (2) of this Regulation or a scientifically reasoned justification for not providing certain parts of those dossiers, demonstrating that the active substance fulfils the approval criteria provided for in Article 4 of this Regulation. The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.”,

(b) paragraph 3 is replaced by the following:

“3. When submitting the application, the applicant may pursuant to Article 63 request certain information, including certain parts of the dossier, to be kept confidential and shall physically separate that information.

Member States shall assess the confidentiality requests. Upon a request for access to information and after consultation with the Authority, the rapporteur Member States shall decide what information is to be kept confidential, in accordance with Article 63.

To ensure the consistency of those assessments, the Authority, following consultations with Member States, shall publish practical arrangements for implementing this paragraph.”;

(2) Article 10 is replaced by the following:

“Article 10

Public access to the dossiers

The Authority shall without delay make the dossiers referred to in Article 8 of this Regulation including any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, available to the public, ***with the exception of any information to which the rapporteur Member State has granted confidential treatment*** ~~excluding any information in respect of which confidential treatment has been requested and accepted by the Authority pursuant to Article 38, Articles 39 to 39f and Article 40 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis* and pursuant to Article 63 of this Regulation.”;~~

(3) In Article 15, paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. The application provided for in Article 14 of this Regulation shall be submitted by a producer of the active substance to a Member State, with a copy to the other Member States, the Commission and the Authority, no later than three years before the expiry of the approval. The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.”;

(4) Article 16 is replaced by the following:

“Article 16

Public Access to the information for renewal

The Authority shall assess, without delay, any request for confidentiality and make available to the public the information provided by the applicant under Article 15 as well as any other supplementary information submitted by the applicant, except for information in respect of which confidential treatment has been requested and ~~accepted~~ ***granted*** by the Authority pursuant to Article 38, ~~Articles 39 to 39f and Article 40 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, which shall apply *mutatis mutandis* and pursuant to~~ ***and*** Article 63 of this Regulation.

The Authority, following consultations with Member States, shall publish practical arrangements for implementing this paragraph.”;

(5) in Article 63, paragraphs 1 and 2 are replaced by the following:

“1. ~~In accordance with the conditions and the procedures laid down in Article 39 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and this article, the~~ ***An*** applicant may request certain ***parts of the*** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification.

2. ~~In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3), confidential treatment may be accepted with respect to the following information, the disclosure of which may be deemed, upon verifiable justification, to significantly harm the interests concerned:~~

Confidential treatment may be granted only with respect to the information items listed in this paragraph, where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated by the applicant to potentially harm its interests to a significant degree:

(a) information referred to in Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002;

~~(b)~~*(a) the specification of impurity of the active substance and the related methods of analysis for impurities in the active substance as manufactured, except for the impurities that are considered to be toxicologically, ecotoxicologically or environmentally relevant and the related methods of analysis for these impurities;*

~~(c)~~*(b) results of production batches of the active substance including impurities; and,*

~~(d)~~*(e) information on the complete composition of a plant protection product.”;*

3. *Where the Authority assesses confidentiality requests under this Regulation, the conditions and the procedures laid down in Articles 39 to 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and paragraph 1a. of this Article shall apply.*

4. *Where Member States assess confidentiality requests under this Regulation, the following requirements and procedures apply:*

a) Confidentiality treatment may only be granted with respect to information listed in paragraph 2 of this Article;

b) Where the Member State has decided which information shall be kept confidential, it shall inform the applicant of its decision;

c) The Member States, the Commission and the Authority shall take the necessary measures so that information for which confidential treatment has been granted is not made public;

d) The relevant provisions of Article 39e of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 on protection of personal data shall also apply mutatis mutandis;

e) Notwithstanding paragraph 2 and points (c) and (d) of this paragraph:

- i) Where urgent action is essential to protect public health, animal health or the environment, such as in emergency situations, the Member State may disclose the information referred to in point a) of this paragraph;*
 - ii) Information which forms part of the conclusions of the scientific outputs delivered by the Authority and which relate to foreseeable effects on animal health, human health or the environment shall nevertheless be made public. In this case, Article 39c of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 shall apply.*
- f) If the applicant withdraws or has withdrawn an application, the Member States, the Commission and the Authority shall respect the confidentiality as accepted in accordance with this Article. Where the withdrawal of the application takes place before the Member State has decided on the relevant confidentiality request, the Member States, the Commission and the Authority shall not make public the information for which confidentiality has been requested.*

Article 9

Amendments to Regulation (EU) No 2015/2283 on novel foods

Regulation (EU) No 2015/2283 is amended as follows:

(1) Article 10 is amended as follows:

(a) paragraph 1 is replaced by the following:

“1. The procedure for authorising the placing on the market within the Union of a novel food and updating of the Union list provided for in Article 9 of this Regulation shall start either on the Commission’s initiative or following an application to the Commission by an applicant, in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002. The Commission shall make the application available to the Member States without delay.”;

(b) paragraph 3 is replaced by the following:

“3. Where the Commission requests an opinion from, the European Food Safety Authority (‘the Authority’), the Authority shall make public ensure public access to the application in accordance with Article 23 and shall give its opinion as to whether the update is liable to have an effect on human health.”;

(2) in Article 15, at the end of paragraph 1 the following sentence is added:

“The Authority shall **make public** ~~ensure public access to~~ the notification pursuant to Article 23.”;

(3) Article 16 is amended as follows:

(a) the following sentence is added at the end of the first paragraph:

“The application shall be submitted in accordance with standard data formats, where they exist pursuant to Article 39f of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.”,

(b) the following sentence is added at the end of the second paragraph:

“The Authority shall **make public** ~~ensure public access to~~ the application, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant in accordance with Article 23.”;

(4) Article 23 is replaced by the following:

“Article 23

Transparency and confidentiality

1. Where the Commission requests its opinion in accordance with Articles 10(3) and 16 of this Regulation, the Authority shall make public the application for authorisation, relevant supporting information and any supplementary information supplied by the applicant, as well as its scientific opinions, in accordance with Article 38 **and**, Articles 39 to 39f ~~and Article 40~~ of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and with this Article.
2. The applicant may request certain **parts of the** information submitted under this Regulation to be kept confidential, accompanied by verifiable justification, upon submission of the application.
 - 2a. ***In addition to Article 39(2) of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 and pursuant to Article 39(3) thereof, the Authority may also grant confidential treatment with respect to the following information, where the disclosure of such information is demonstrated by the applicant to potentially harm its interests to a significant degree:***
 - a) ***where applicable, information provided in detailed descriptions of starting substances and starting preparations and on how they are used to manufacture the novel food subject to the authorisation, and detailed information on the nature and composition of the specific substances in which the applicant intends to use this novel food, except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety;***

- b) *where applicable, detailed analytical information on the variability and stability of individual production batches of the novel food subject to the authorisation, except for information which is relevant to the assessment of the safety.*
3. Where the Commission requests its opinion in accordance with Articles 10(3) and 16 of this Regulation, the Authority shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant, in accordance with Articles 39 to 39e of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002.
4. Where the Commission does not request the Authority's opinion pursuant to Articles 10 and 16, the Commission shall assess the confidentiality request submitted by the applicant. Article 39 and 39a of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 shall apply *mutatis mutandis*.”.

Article 10

Transitional measures

1. The provisions of this Regulation shall not apply to applications for authorisations under Union ~~food~~ law as well as requests for scientific outputs submitted to the Authority prior to [general date of entry of application: 18 months after its entry into force].
2. *The term of office of the members of the Management Board of the Authority who are in office on 30 June 2022, shall expire on that date. Notwithstanding the dates of application referred to in Article 11 of this Regulation, the procedure for nomination and appointment of members to the Management Board set out in Article 1(2) of this Regulation, shall apply for the purposes of allowing the members appointed under these rules to start their term of office on [date of application in Article 11(2): 1 July 2022].*
3. *Notwithstanding the dates of application referred to in Article 11 of this Regulation, the term of office of the members of the Scientific Committee and of the Scientific Panels who are in office on 30 June 2021, shall be prolonged until the members of that Committee and those Panels appointed according to the selection and appointment procedure in Article 1(3) of this Regulation start their term of office.*

Article 11

Entry into force

1. This Regulation shall enter into force on the twentieth day following that of its publication in the *Official Journal of the European Union*.
2. It shall apply from [18 months after its entry into force], except for the following provisions:
- (a)—Article 1(2) *and (3) of this Regulation which* shall apply from 1st July 2022.

~~(b) Article 1(3) shall apply as from the date of appointment of the members of the Scientific Panels, which shall be announced in a notice in the 'C' series of the *Official Journal of the European Union*. The current term of office of the Scientific Committee and Panel members shall be prolonged until that date.~~

This Regulation shall be binding in its entirety and directly applicable in all Member States.

Done at Brussels,

For the European Parliament

For the Council

The President

The President
